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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

JULIO VILLARS )

)

Plaintiff, )
) Case No. 12 CV 4586
V. )

) Judge Robert M. Dow, Jr.
STEPHEN KUBIATOWSKI as Assistant )
United States Attorney for the Northern )
District of lllinois; MAURY STRAUB as )
Ozaukee County ShéfiJEFFREY SAUDER )
as Ozaukee County Jail Administrator; DOES)
OZAUKEE COUNTY JAIL DEPUTIES 1-8; )
COUNTY OF OZAUKEE; KENNETH
COPPES, PATRICK MURRAY, and
MICHAEL BARR as Village of Round Lake
Beach Police Officer; the VILLAGE OF
ROUND LAKE BEACH; GARY BITLER as
Round Lake Beach Police Chief; LAKE
COUNTY; MARK CURRAN as Sheriff of
Lake County; DOES LAKE COUNTY JAIL
DEPUTIES SHERIFF 9-13,

N N N N N N N N N N

Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
Before the Court are motions to dismRBgintiff's second amended complaint (“SAC”)
[54], filed by Defendants Vidge of Round Lake Beach (“VRLB”), VRLB police officers
Kenneth Coppes, Patrick Murragnd Michael Barr, and VRLBpolice chief Gary Bitler
(together, “the VRLB Defendasil) [58], Lake County, Lake @nty sheriff Mark Curran, and
Lake County jail deputies Scott Wilson andl®a&ovarro, (ciectively, “the Lake County
Defendants”) [60], and #sistant United States AttorneyefBhen Kubiatowski [83]. For the

reasons set forth below, the Court grants in gadtdenies in part the VRLB Defendants’ motion
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[58]; the Court denies the Lake County Defendantotion in its entirgt [60]; and the Court
denies in part and grenin part Defendant biatowski’s motion [83].

Also before the Court is Plaintiff's “motion for certification to receive U-Visa
certification” [79]. For the reasons set forthdye, the Court denies Plaintiff's motion. This
case is set for further statas May 20, 2014 at 9:00 a.m.

1. Background*

On October 10, 2010 at 8:28 p.mrp sePlaintiff Julio Villars was arrested by police
officers from the Village of Round Lake Bea¢tVRLB") for driving under the influence and
fleeing from VRLB officers after they effectuatadraffic stop of Villarss vehicle. SAC Y 30;
SAC Ex. B, C. Officersnitially pulled over Villars for speeding, but when they approached the
driver side window, Villars sped away in his carade a right turn, and then fled his vehicle on
foot. Id. Soon after, the officers located Villarsterg a nearby backyard, at which point they
detained and arrested himid. According to Villars, OfficerCoppes referred to Villars as an
“illegal Mexican” at the scene of his arrest amthen Villars refused tsign a traffic citation at
the police station, Coppes told Villars that heuldd'be in Mexico by the time [Coppes] finished
with [him].” SAC 11 33, 41.

Villars contends that, in fact, he was ot “illegal Mexican,”but a Honduran citizen,
lawfully in the United States and working asonfidential informantor the FBI. SAC 11 42,
50. According to Villars, VRLB officers reaved from his wallet arllinois Commercial
Driver's License, social security card, lllisostate ID card, Immigrain Work Authorization
Card (I-765), and an “OIA Otherse lllegal Activity” authorization card from the FBI. SAC

49. According to the police paperwork that il attached to his SAC, after completing the

! The facts are drawn from Plaintiffs second amehdemplaint. For the purposes of Defendants’
motions to dismiss, the Court assumes as true all weddpd allegations set forth in the complaint. See
Killingsworth v. HSBC Bank Nevada, N.B07 F.3d 614, 618 (7th Cir. 2007).



booking procedures, officers placed Villars in a call be held for sobriety,” and at 3 a.m. or 4
a.m., an officer awoke Villars to have hingsipaperwork concerning his personal recognizance
bond. SAC { 55; SAC Ex. C. Villars asked the VRafficer if he would be released, at which
time the officer informed Villars that he wallbe transported to ka County jail on an
immigration detainer from U.S. Immigratiand Customs Enforcement (“ICE”). SAC { 56.
According to Villars, the VRLBpolice department has an unlawful policy of honoring all ICE
detainers, even when — in cases like this one, Villars contends — there are “easily verifiable
fact[s]” of an arrestee’s legal tnorization to be in the Unite8tates. SAC  60In Villars’s
case, ICE issued the detainer on October 10, Zad€ording to the detainer itself) to “Will
County Sheriff 95 S. Chicago Sbliet, IL 60436,” informing its recipient that the Department of
Homeland Security (“DHS”) had initiated anviestigation “to determine whether [Villars] is
subject to removal from the United States” amguesting that the detainer’s recipient “maintain
custody of [Villars] for a period not to exake&l8 hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and
Federal holidays) to provide adequate time RiH§] to assume custody of the alien.” SAC Ex.
F. The detainer asked that rescipient contact DHS “at least 2lxys prior to [the Villars’s]
release or as far in advance as possilide.”

Villars says that he wasansferred to Lake Countyilj@around 3am” on October 11,
20107 where Lake County, too, unlawfully detainkiin in compliance withCE’s directive.
SAC 11 90, 108, 114. On November 10, 2010, Villars taen to ICE’s Chicago office, where
he was transferred to the FBI pursuant to a riste/itness warrant ahtaken into custody by

the U.S. Marshals Service. SAC 99 117-20. TH& WMarshals Service then transferred Villars

2 Plaintiff’'s SAC states that he was transferoedNovember 11, 2010, which — based on the supporting
documentation attached as exhibits to the comip(age Ex. B, C) and various other places in his SAC
where he makes clear that theserds took place in October (see SAC {1 80, 84-85) — appears to be a
typographical error.



to Ozaukee County Jail in Port Washington, Wisin, where (according to Villars) the U.S.
Marshals rent bed spat®hold federal material witnesstdaees. SAC {1 121-22, 126. Villars
contends that he was housed unlawfully witiminal defendants and subjected to invasive
patdowns and strip searches, despis status as a materiaitness detainee SAC | 134-35,
138.

Villars’s SAC mentions that he was trangied back to Chicago on November 15 for an
unspecified reason. SAC  138. The dockdi.id. v. Diaz 10-cr-0199, however, reveals that
Villars made his initial appearance before JRudgenlow, (see [60]), concerning the material
witness warrant that Judge Castillo isso@dNovember 3, 2010, following a hearing on AUSA
Kubiatowski’'s October 27 motion. See [54, 5@h his motion, Kubiatowski represented to
Judge Castillo that Mars’s testimony inJ.S. v. Diaza case in which Mars posed as a buyer
of methamphetamine at the diriect of the FBI) was critical tthe government’s prosecution of
the defendants in that case and that Villars was facing imminent deportation proceedings, such
that the government would be unable to secusg@iésence at trial witlh subpoena and therefore
needed a material withess warrant transferMfidars to the custody of the U.S. Marshals
Service. See Kubiatowski Affidavit id.S. v. Diaz10-cr-0199, [54-1]. Ahis initial appearance
before Judge Denlow on November 15, Palyinn from the FederaDefender Program was
appointed as Villars’'s counsel, and Judge Denlow scheduled a detention hearing for November
19. See [60]. When he returnedOzaukee County Jail later thaday, Villars tested positive for
tuberculosis. SAC 11 142-44. But when Villars refused to undergo any additional medical
evaluation, he was placed in iabbn at the jail, (SAC 1Y 1446), and (according to the docket
in U.S. v. Diaz Judge Denlow postponed his Novemberd&gention hearing (to be “reset at a

later date”) on account difis medical condition. See [65Villars, however, allegedly received



no information about his detention status o hext court date and had no contact with his
attorney. After November 19, 2010, the next docket entty.$1 v. Diazconcerning Villars was
entered on January 6, 2011, when Judge Denldwedsted a status hearing “as to material
witness Julio Villars-Salazar” faJanuary 11, 2011. [67].

A week or so before that, on December 30, 2010, after 50 days in Ozaukee County Jall,
Villars had written Judge Caliti a letter, explaining his situation and requesting a detention
hearing. SAC Ex. |. After sexa& unsuccessful attempts tortact his attorney Paul Flynn, on
January 7, 2011, Villars wrote latter to Flynn, pleading for some type of assistance or
information concerning his sted. SAC Ex. J. According tthe docket, Flynn withdrew as
Villars’s counsel at the January 11, 2011 statusimggwhich Villars appars to have attended)
and Ronald Clark was substituted for Flynn. §&£8; SAC { 167. JudgDenlow set another
status for January 13, at which time a statusihgavas scheduled for January 27. [68, 70]. On
January 27, 2011, Judge Denlowndacted a detention hearing tasVillars and, according to
the docket, Villars was keased from custody by agreement of plaeties. See [74]Villars says
that he was returned to Ozaek€ounty Jail after the hearingychwas then transported back to
Chicago on February 1, 2011, where he whisased from detention. SAC § 175.

Villars commenced this suit on June P12 and filed the twenty-one count second
amended complaint [54] at issue here amgidst 1, 2013. Counts |-V concern Defendant
Kubiatowski. Count | alleges that AUSA Kubaaiski violated Villars’sdue process rights by
detaining him longer than was necessary to sebisrgpresence as a material witness at trial.
Count Il alleges that AUSA Hbiatowski violated Villars’s duerocess rights by “adopting and
implementing policies” that subjected Villars foutrageous, excessive, cruel, inhuman, and

degrading conditions of confinemt.” Count Il allges that Kubiatowskviolated Villars’'s



equal protection rights by (as in Count |) detagnVillars longer than was “necessary to secure
his appearance in court” and (as in Count Il) feating him to harsh[er] treatment” than other
“similarly-situated material witness[es],” becaudénis race, ethnicity, anational origin. Count
IV alleges that Kubiatowski violated his Foumendment right to be free from unreasonable
detention and failed to comply with the maaénwvitness statute (18.S.C. 8 3144), the Balil
Reform Act (18 U.S.C. 8§ 3142(f)(2)), anddesal Rule of Criminal Procedure 46(h).

Counts V-XI concern the VRLBefendants (the VRLB, VRLBolice chief Gary Bitler,
VRLB police officers Kenneth Coppes, Patrick ivay, and Michael Barrand the Lake County
Defendants (Lake County, Lake County shekfark Curran, and Lake County jail deputies
Scott Wilson and Dale Novarro). Count V gis that the VRLB and Lake County Defendants
violated Villars’'s Fourth Amendment rights kjetaining him withoutprobable cause of an
immigration violation and “pursant to an unauthorized and diéint detainer.” Count VI
alleges that the VRLB and Lake County Defamdaviolated Villars’s Fourth Amendment rights
because, Villars argues, Congress only authorigl to issue detainers in cases involving
controlled substances. (Villars appears to athae ICE improperly issed a detainer when it
was unauthorized to do so.) Count VIl ghs that the VRLB and Lake County Defendants
violated Villars’s Fourth Amendent rights by detaining him wibut a probable cause hearing.
Count VIII alleges that the VRLB and Lak@éounty Defendants violatl Villars’s Fourth
Amendment rights by detaining him at the direstdf the federal government in contravention
of the Tenth Amendment. Count IX alleg¢hat the VRLB and Lake County Defendants
violated Villars’s substantive due process righysdetaining him pursuant to a detainer that is
not governed by “standards guiding [its] issuancéVillars seems to arguthat ICE detainers

themselves are unconstitutional.) Count Xgae that the VRLB antake County Defendants



violated Villars’s procedural dugrocess rights by jailing him pursuant to the ICE detainer. And
Count Xl alleges that the VRLB and Lakeowhty Defendants violatedis procedural due
process rights by detaining him puant to an ICE detainer that was not subject to judicial
review. (Like in Count IX, Villas again seems to contest the constitutionality of ICE detainers
generally.)

Count XII alleges a Fourth Amendmentcessive force claim against VRLB officer
Murray for bending Villars’s fingeduring his arrest. (Officer Muay has not moved to dismiss
this claim.)

Counts XlII and XIV alleges that Oukee County, Ozaukee County Sheriff Maury
Straub, Ozaukee County Jail Administrator @sff Sauder, and John Doe Jail Deputies 1-8
(collectively, “the Ozaukee County Defendaftsiolated his Fourth and Eighth Amendment
rights by subjecting him to unreasdnle strip searches and general mistreatment while housed at
the Ozaukee County Jail. (The Ozaukeeu@ly Defendants have not moved to dismiss
Plaintiff's SAC.)

Count XV alleges that the VRLB Defenda, Lake County Defendants, and AUSA
Kubiatowski violated the Vienn@onvention on Consular Relatiohg failing to inform Villars
of his right to communicateith the Honduran consular.

Counts XVI and XVII allege that VRLB pice officers Coppes, Murray, and Barr, and
Lake County jail deputies Wilson and Novarro, qured to deny Villars equal protection of the
laws in contravention of 4R).S.C. § 1985(2) and 42 U.S.€.1985(3), respectively. Count
XVIII alleges that these same five Defendawitdated 42 U.S.C. § 1986 by failing to prevent

those violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1985.



Count XIX is a claim forespondeat superian which Villars see& to hold VRLB, Lake
County, and Ozaukee County liable for the actiohsheir employees. Count XX is a claim
against these same three &@si for indemnification.

Count XXI alleges that Ozaukee County eoyeles Straub and Sauder, as well as John
Doe Deputies 1-8, deprived Villars of hisrstitutional right of access to the courts.

Il. Motion to Dismiss Legal Standard

The purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to disnsssot to decide the merits of the case; a
Rule 12(b)(6) motion tests the sufficiency of the complai@ibson v. City of Chi.910 F.2d
1510, 1520 (7th Cir. 1990). Inviewing a motion to dismiss und®ule 12(b)(6), the Court
takes as true all factual allegations in Plaintiff's complaint and draws all reasonable inferences in
his favor. Killingsworth, 507 F.3d at 618. To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the
claim first must comply with Rule 8(a) by piding “a short and plain statement of the claim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relief”dF&. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)), such that the defendant is
given “fair notice of what the * * * clam is and the grounds upon which it restB&ll Atl. Corp.

v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (quotif€@pnley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)).
Second, the factual allegations in the claim nmbestsufficient to raise thpossibility of relief
above the “speculative level,” assing that all of the allegations in the complaint are true.
E.E.O.C. v. Concentra Health Servs., Ji96 F.3d 773, 776 (7th Cir. 2007) (quotifngombly

550 U.S. at 555). “A pleading that offers ‘labelnd conclusions’ or a ‘formulaic recitation of
the elements of a cause of action will not doAshcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 555). However, “[s]pecifiacts are not necessary; the statement
need only give the defendant fair notice of witet * * * claim is and the grounds upon which it

rests.” Erickson v. Pardus551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007) (citinbvombly 550 U.S. at 555) (ellipsis in



original). The Court reads the complaint and assesses its plausibility as a whokskiiSeeg.
City of Chi, 631 F.3d 823, 832 (7th Cir. 201tf; Scott v. City of Chil195 F.3d 950, 952 (7th
Cir. 1999) (“Whether a complaint provides noti¢ewever, is determined by looking at the
complaint as a whole.”).
lll.  Analysis

A. Claims Against the Village of Round Lake Beach Defendants

1. CountsV-XI

After stripping away duplicative allegatioasd arguments about the lawfulness of ICE
detainers generally, Counts V-XI allege violatiafsthree distinct constitutional rights against
the VRLB Defendants stemmingofn their compliance with the ICE detainer: procedural due
process, substantive due process, and thosercedfby the Fourth Amendment. According to
Villars, the Round Lake Beach RBbcident/Offense Report” (attachéal his SAC as exhibit C)
demonstrates that the “booking process” atMR&.B police department ended at 9:27 p.m., and
therefore, Villars argues, hisonfinement after that time was akin to being re-arrested and
detained without probable cause of a newngral violation. SAC { 80. Reading the
Incident/Offense Report in the light most favorataeVillars, however, the Court disagrees that
a reasonable inference can be drawn that the “booking process” ended at 9:27 p.m. The report
very clearly states thafillars refused to provida breath sample at 9:27 p.m., at which time he
was served with “an immediate notice of suampnsuspension.” SAC Ex. C at 3. The report
then details several steps the booking process that occurrafter 9:27 p.m. (including
photographing Villars’s hand), and states thaltaxs was placed in a cell “to be held for

sobriety” after the complain of the booking proceduresd. The report was completed at 11:41



p.m. that evening, so it reasonably can be inferred that the booking process was completed
sometime after 9:27 p.m. and before 11:41 p.m.

The VRLB Defendants argue that noofethese timing issues matter beca@srinty of
Riverside v. McLaughlipermits law enforcement to detain an arrestee for a minimum of 48
hours before a detainee’s Fourth Amendment sigiven arguably are violated. 500 U.S. 44
(2001). They argue that because Villars alleges ltle was transferred to the custody of Lake
County “at approximately 3am” (at most, sevesurs after his arrest around 8 p.m.), Villars’s
detention by VRLB was presumptivealgasonable. That's not quite true.

The forty-eight hour framework set forth @ounty of Riversidégoverns the length of
time which may elapse before a probable causariggan cases involvingextended detention.
Chortek v. City of Milwauke&56 F.3d 740, 746 (7th Cir. 2004). Here, Villars was not awaiting
a probable cause hearing. Idested the requisite $1,000 boadd was issued a “Personal
Recognizance Bond” form sometime beforednmght on October 10 (presumably at the
completion of the booking procedures), which he signed to demonstrate his understanding that he
was required to appear for a hearing atlthke County Courthouse on November 8, 2011 at
8:30 a.m. in courtroom C-401. See SAC Ex.But for the ICE detainer, Villars argues, VRLB
would have released Villars on his personabgeizance. Contrary to the VRLB Defendants’
argument,County of Riversidelid not grant law enforcement officials carte blanche to detain
criminal suspects for forty-eight hmuafter their arrest. RatheéCpunty of Riversidexplicitly
said that “unreasonable delays, even within the forty-eight hour period, may be constitutionally
troublesome.” Chortek 356 F.3d at 746 (citingcounty of Riverside500 U.S. at 56). The
Supreme Court specified: “Examples of unoeable delay are delay®r the purpose of

gathering additional evidence to justify theest, a delay motivated by ill will against the

10



arrested individual, or dy for delay’s sake.”County of Riversides00 U.S. at 56. In view of

this language, the Seventh Circuit has said hioéding a detainee after he has posted bond may

be unconstitutional. Sedarper v. Sheriff of Cook Cnty581 F.3d 511, 515 (7th Cir. 2009).
“[T]he constitutionality of this detention dependn whether the length of the delay between the
time the [law enforcement agency] was notifiedtthond had been posted and the time that the
detainee was released was reasonable in any given dase“That is an individual issue that

will depend on how long each detainee was held after bond was posted and what justifications
there might be for the delay on that particulay dad for that particuladetainee . . . .'1d.

The VLRB Defendants argue that the ICE deta provided a “legitimate reason” for
detaining Villars after hg@osted bond. See VRLB Def. MTD [58] at 9; see atsaat 5 (“the
movants had a valid DHS detainer requiring therfdifaito be held for 48 hours”). The Seventh
Circuit has yet to address the issue, but a very recent Third Circuit case points out that every
federal court of appeals that has consideredntitare of ICE detainers characterizes them as
“requests” that impose no mandatory obligatiomthe part of the deteer’s recipient. Galarza
v. Szalczyk2014 WL 815127, at *5 (3d CiMar. 4, 2014). Agreeingith the First, Second,
Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Circuitghe Third Circuit emphasizedahCongress did “not authorize
federal officials to command state or local cifils to detain suspected aliens subject to
removal,” that “all federal agencies and depemts having an interest in the matter have
consistently described such datas as requests,” and thatdonclude otherwise would offend
the Tenth Amendment, which prohibits theddeal government from “command[ing] the
government agencies of the states to impr@anmsons of interest to federal officialsld. at *5-

7.

11



Setting aside the fact that the detaineVillars’s case was not even addressed to the
VRLB Defendants (but was instead, for soraason, addressed to the sheriff of Will County),
the detainer self-identifies as a “request,” aifitation that DHS added to the detainer form in
2010 when the agency also removed any mention of the word “require” from the form. See
Galarza 2014 WL 815127 at *7. The Third Cii€s well-reasoned opioin and the plain
language of the detainer itselfrpgade the Court that the VRLB Defendants were not obligated
to detain Villars pursuant to the ICE detainer.

In light of that conclusion anthe Seventh Circuit's decision idarper, it would be
premature at this stage of thédation — taking Plaintiff's allgations as true and without the
benefit of a fully-developed record — for theufioto decide whethahe VRLB Defendants had
sufficient justification todetain Villars after he posted bonéccordingly, the Court denies the
VRLB Defendants’ motion to dismiss Villars’'allegations that they violated his Fourth
Amendment and procedural and dainéive due process rights.

However, the Court strikes four of theseese counts as duplicative and/or alleged as to
the federal government (not the VRLB Defendant¥)llars states three sliinct constitutional
claims based on his allegedly unfaliwdetention, so for clarity’s sake, the Court collapses these
allegations into just three counts — Count \égihg Fourth Amendment violations, Count IX
alleging substantive due procession violatjomsd Count X alleging pcedural due process
violations. Seditran v. Ackman893 F.2d 145, 147 (7th Cir. 1990) (“Force during arrest must
be reasonable within the meaning of the Fodahendment; between arrest and conviction the
government may not ‘punish’ the suspect withduke process of law; after conviction the
government may not inflict cruehd unusual punishment.”); see aldomstrong v. Squadrito

152 F.3d 564, 582 (7th Cir. 1998) (acknowledpithat prolonged detéon implicates a

12



protected interest under substaatdue process). AccordinglypGnts VI, VII, VIII, and Xl are
dismissed as to the VRLB Defendants.
2. CountxV

Count XV alleges that the VRLB Defendanislated Villars’'s onstitutional rights by
failing to notify him of his right to communicate thi consular officials, as (Villars argues)
required by Article 36(1)(b) of the Viennao@vention on Consular Relations. The Seventh
Circuit has held that there is a privaight of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 grounded in
violations of Article 36 of the Vienna Convention. Segi v. Voges480 F.3d 822, 835-36 (7th
Cir. 2007). Article 36(1)(b) states:

With a view to facilitating the exercise of consular functions relating to nationals

of the sending State: . . . if he saqquests, the competent authorities of the

receiving State shall, without delay, infio the consular post of the sending State

if, within its consular district, a national of that State is arrested or committed to

prison or to custody pending trial or detained in any other manner. Any

communication addressed to the consulast oy the personreested, in prison,

custody or detention shall also be forwaldey the said authorities without delay.

The said authorities shall inform therpen concerned without delay of his rights

under this sub-paragraph.
Vienna Convention, Art. 36. The Seventh Circgiipting former Secretary of State William P.
Rogers, has been clear that Article 36 “requihed authorities of the receiving State inform the
person detained of his right ttave the fact of his detentioeported to the consular posted
concerned and of his right to \rea the fact of his detentioreported to the consular post
concerned and of his right to comnicate with that consular postJogi, 480 F.3d at 830.

DespiteJogi and the plain language of ArticB6, the VRLB Defendants contend that
there is no “legal support” for Villars’s afiation that the Defendantgere required to notify

him of his rights under the Vienna Conventionidgrthe seven hours that he was in their

custody. They direct the Court to 8 CRER6.1(e), which the VRLB Defendants argue

13



demonstrates that they, at masére required to notify Villars dhis Article 36 rights within 72
hours of detention. 8 CFR 236.1(e) reads: “Evetgided alien shall be notified that he or she
may communicate with the consular or diplomafitcers of the country of his or her nationality
of the United States. Existing treaties with the following countries require immediate
communication with appropriate consular opldmatic officers whenear nationals of the
following countries are detained in removalb@eedings.” A footnote clarifies that “U.S.
authorities shall notify responsible representatithin 72 hours of the arrest or detention of
one of their nationals.” Hondurass Defendants admit, is not one of the countries to which this
section of the CFR pertains, but more imporignthis section speaks to the immediacy with
which U.S. authorities must commauate with an arrestee’s consulaot to the immediacy with
which U.S. authorities must inform the arrestedisfindividual rights plsuant to Article 36 of

the Vienna Convention. Article 3&xplicitly states that authorities must inform the arrestee of
those rights “without delay.”

Although neither the Seventh Circuit noetSupreme Court have defined the phrase
“without delay” in terms of a specific timeline, theS. Department of Sttnstructs all federal,
state, and local law enforcement agencies thahtwt delay” means “promptly.” U.S. Dep't of
State, Consular Notification and Access, 21 (Fourth ed, March 2014) (the State Department’s
“instructions for federal, stat@nd local law enforcement andhet officials regarding foreign
nationals in the United States and the rightscofisular officials toassist them”). More
specifically, the State Department instructs tt@lrdinarily, [law enforcement] must inform a
foreign national of the possibilityf consular notificatin by or at the time thforeign national is
booked for detention, which is at a time when tdgrand foreign nationality can be confirmed

in a safe and orderly way. If the identitpdaforeign nationality of a person are confirmed

14



during a custodial interrogation that precedes booking, consular information should be provided
at that time.” 1d.

Here, accepting Villars’s allegations as trbes consular rights clely were violated.
VRLB officers knew that he was a foreign natibmdnen they confiscated his documentation.
Yet rather than informing him of his right @onsul contact at that time, or even at the
completion of the booking process, Defendanétained him for several more hours until
transferring him into the custody afcompletely separate law enforcement agency, without ever
notifying him of his clearly eskldished Article 36 ghts (and without any confidence that he
would ever be told of thesegtits). For this reason, the VRLB Defendants’ motion to dismiss
Count XV is denied and their claim of qualdienmunity is rejected at this time. SEstate of
Escobedo v. Bende600 F.3d 770, 779 (7th ICi2010) (noting that @onstitutional right is
clearly established, dnthus qualified immunity is unailable, when its contours are
“sufficiently clear that a reasonabbfficial would understand that whhe is doingiolates that
right”).

3. CountsXVI-XVIII

The VRLB Defendants argue that Pldifgi SAC does not state legally cognizable
claims that Defendants Coppes, Murray, and Banspired to deny Villars equal protection of
the law in violation of 42 § U.S.C. 1985(2%2 8§ U.S.C. 1985(3), and2 § U.S.C. 1986.
Specifically, they argue that Villardoes not allege that he is a member of a protected class or
that they conspiredi.€., agreed) to deprive i of any constitutionarights. The Court
disagrees. To state a claim for Section 1@®8Bspiracy, a plaintiff must allege: “(1) a
conspiracy; (2) for the purpose @¢priving, either direty or indirectly, any person or class of

persons of the equal protection of the lawsfoequal privileges and immunities under the laws;

15



and (3) an act in furtherance tife conspiracy; (4) whereby a person is either injured in his
person or property or deprived of any right or privilege of a citizen of the United St&each
v. City ofEvansville, 111 F.3d 544, 547 (7th Cir. 1997).

Villars specifically alleges #t the VRLB Defendants violatdds rights because of their
“animus against Latino minorities.” SAC { 309. dumpport, Villars avers that during his arrest
(even before he was searched and his documarts confiscated) and detention, officers called
him a “fucking Mexican” and a varitof other racial slurs. S& f 33-34. Later, Defendant
Coppes told Villars that he was “going to imeMexico by the time [Gppes] finish[ed] with
[him].” SAC  41. Villars alleges #t even after he exgahed to the officers #t he was, in fact,
Honduran, Defendants Coppes, Barr, and MurrayteviMexico, Mexico” as his place of birth
on the “Incident/Offense Report.” See SAC Ex. C at p. 1. These allegations support Villars’s
contention that the VRLB Defendants conspiredi¢prive him of his constitutional rights, and
that they did so because of h&ce. “To establish a prima faccase of civil conspiracy under
Section 1985, a plaintiff must show expressimplied agreement among the defendants to
deprive the plaintiff of his constitional rights, and a deprivation of those rights in the form of
overt acts in furtherance of the agreemertherer v. Balkema40 F.2d 437, 441 (7th Cir.
1988). Taking all the facts in the light mosvdaable to Villars and drawing all reasonable
inferences in his favor, Villars has stated a claim that the officers, at least implicitly, both agreed
to deprive him of his rights and then did so.

The VRLB Defendants also argue that the statute of limitations precludes Villars from
pursuing a claim based on 42 8. 1986 for their alleged failure to prevent 42 § U.S.C. 1985
violations. 42 § U.S.C. 1986 states that “no action under the posisif this section shall be

sustained which is not commenced withineogear after the cause of action accrued.”
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Defendants argue that because their inteyastiwith Villars ended on October 10, 2010 and
Villars did not include his Section 1986 claumtil he filed his Second Amended Complaint on
August 13, 2013, the one-year statafdimitations bars his claim.The statute of limitations
issue, however, is not quite as straightfard as Defendants’ one-paragraph argument for
dismissal would suggest. “Ordinarily, a civil righclaim accrues at the time a person becomes
or should have become aware that [he] waqsréa, that is when [he] knows or should have
known [his] constitutional rigisthave been violated Anderson v. Cornejdl99 F.R.D. 228, 250
(N.D. Ill. 2000) (citingWilson v. Gieser956 F.2d 738, 740 (7th Cir. 1992)). Particularly in the
context of a Section 1986 claim, which implicated only the date on which Plaintiff knew that
his civil rights were violated but also the date which a Defendant could have prevented that
violation, this is a difficult determation for the Court to make onnaotion to dismiss. At this
juncture, the Court has no infortian as to when Villars learnetiat his rights were violated
(recall that no one ever informed him during hisedéon of his consularghts, for example).
Moreover, Villars commenced this suit on JU)e012, and his Section 1986 claim may relate
back to this date. For these reasons, the tCtike other judges in th district who have
confronted this issue in the S0 1986 context, determines thiatvould be imprudent to rule
on Defendants’ statute of limitations argemh at this stage of this case. &kd"Plaintiffs need

not plead in the complaint thtitey lacked knowledge and it canrat resolved on the motion to
dismiss whether plaintiffs actuglivere or should have beenaw of defendants’ knowledge of
the alleged Section 1985 conspiracy more thayear before the filing of the Section 1986

claims.”).
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4. Count XIX (Respondeat Superior) &ldims Against Defendant Bitler

The VRLB Defendants argue that Plaintifftespondeat superioclaim against the
Village of Round Lake Beach, as well as allheé claims against VRLB police chief Bitler,
should be dismissed because “a municipatéynot be held liableinder Section 1983 on a
respondeat superidheory.” Monell v. New York Dep’t of Soc. Ser#88 U.S. 658, 691 (1978);
see alsd_ewis v. City of Chicagad96 F.3d 645, 656 (7th Cir. 2007) (noting that municipalities
are only responsible for thgmolicies and not the misconducttbkir employees). Although the
VRLB Defendants are&orrect that “noMonell claim is mentioned or asserted in the counts
directed towards the VRLB,” they concede tdtars’s SAC does allege that the policies and
practices of the VRLB caused the constitutiomamllations of which he complains. Villars
alleges that “[i]t is a policy or custom of BPD to detain persons thi Hispanic backgrounds
who are named on immigration detainers,” thgt ¥ a policy or custom of RLBPD to detain
persons named in immigration detainers for lorg@rods of time than permitted by the United
States Constitution,” and that the VRLB ha%alicy of honoring all ICE detainers.” SAC {1
59, 77-78.

Plaintiff's opposition brief suggests that he intended to asdddnll claim in his SAC.
[66] at 16 (“Defendants do not dispute that the VRLB can be held liable uNdewel] for
causing Plaintiffs’ [sic] deprivation of constitutidnaghts . . . Plaintiff have [sic] alleged a
number of ongoing policies, custom and pi@eti adopted and acquiesced by VRLB and Chief
Bitler as the policy-maker for tiéRLB from which Plaintiffs’ [sid claims arise.”). “It is well-
settled law thapro secomplaints are to be liberally canged and not held to the stringent
standards expected of pléaglk drafted by lawyers."McCormick v. City of Chicagd®230 F.3d

319, 325 (7th Cir. 2000). And the VRLB Defentla effectively admit that Plaintiffs SAC
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provided them notice of these claims. For thessons, the Court will construe Count XIX as a
Monell claim, rather than aespondeat superioclaim, and Defendants’ motion to dismiss is
denied as to Count XIX.

The Court agrees with Defendants, thouglat thefendant Bitler should be dismissed
from the case. No substantive allegatiorodgled against DefendanttBr and the SAC makes
clear that Bitler is named only because Villaohgiders him, as police chief, to be the “final
policy maker” of the VRLB police department. See SAC { 23. In the absemespoindeat
superior liability, a supervisor only can be held pamally liable if he knows of a subordinate’s
conduct, and either facilitatespndones, or approves it. SBackes v. Village of Peoria
Heights, IL, 662 F.3d 866, 869-70 (7th Cir. 2011). And sagsinst an individual in his official
capacity “is simply a suit against the municipalitySmith v. Blakely124 F.3d 205, at *3 (7th
Cir. 1997). Therefore, Defielant Bitler is not a propéefendant in this case.

B. Claims Against the Lake County Defendants

1. CountsV-XI

The Lake County Defendants make thecesame arguments for the dismissal of Villars’'s
Fourth Amendment and due process claims nigdthe VRLB Defendants — namely, that the
ICE detainer justified their dention of Villars. Lake Coumgtreceived the ICE detainer on
October 11, 2010 at 1:01 a.m., roughly three hourg poi&/illars’s transfer into their custody.
SAC 11 82, 90. Lake County Jail detaineitlavs until October 12, 2010 at 8:04 a.m., for
approximately 29 hours total. SAC Ex. GThe Lake County Defendants argue that 8 CFR
287.7(d) authorizes a law enforcemh agency to detain an indiual “for up to 48 hours after
local custody over the detainee wibwdtherwise end.” [60] at 3he cited federal regulation,

titted “Temporary detention at Departmentquest,” reads: “Upon a determination by the
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Department to issue a detainer for an alienatioérwise detained by a criminal justice agency,
such agency shall maintain custody of the al@na period not to edeed 48 hours, excluding
Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays in order tonfgeassumption of custody by the Department.”
8 CFR § 287.7(d). In their words, “[t]he viability of Villars’ cause of action against the Lake
County Defendants is reduced to simple ma8ince his stay at theake County Jail ended
within 48 hours of théssuance of the detainer, he cannoteséatause of action against the Lake
County Defendants.” [74] at 3. The Court disagrees.

First, the plain language of this regudat does not support Defendants’ reading. The
regulation instructs that ¢hcustody of an alien ieot to exceedt8 hours; nowhere does it
authorize the detentioaf an alien for 48 hoursfter local custody over the detainee would
otherwise end Second, and more fundamentally, evemefendants’ intepretation of this
regulation was correct, this language does et @r amend the contours of the Fourth or
Fourteenth Amendments of the United 8saConstitution. As the Third Circuit noted:

The words ‘shall maintain custody’ in tlwentext of the regulation as a whole,

appear next to the use of the wordjuest’ throughout the recgation. Given that

the title of Section 287.7(d) is ‘Temporary detention at Department request’ and

that Section 287.7(a) generally defines aidetaas a ‘request,’ it is hard to read

the use of the word “shall” in the timing section to change the nature of the entire

regulation. However, even if we creditat the use of the word ‘shall’ raises

some ambiguity as to whether deta® impose mandatory obligations, this

ambiguity is clarifiedon numerous fronts.

Galarzg 2014 WL 815127 at * 4. First, no federal dsuwf appeals has ewdescribed an ICE
detainer as anything but aqueest. Second, Congress did aathorize DHS to command the
detention of aliens. Third, all relevant fedemgkncies and departmewrtnsider ICE detainers
to be requestsld.

The Court agrees with theake County Defendants thataff officials can detain an

individual after bond has been posted if thegve a legitimate reason for the length of
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detention.” [60]at 6 (citingHarper, 581 F.3d at 514-15). But the Codisagrees, at least at this
stage of the litigation, that DHS’s request tbafendants detain Villars (without probable cause
that Villars committed a violation of immigian laws) so clearly constituted a legitimate
(constitutional) reason as to render Pléfisticlaims meritless. Defendants cite antos v.
Frederick Cnty. Bd. of Comm’r§25 F.3d 451 (4th Cir. 2013pr the general proposition that
“local authorities may hold a person pursuané detainer.” [60] at 4. But wh&antosactually
says is that “the Supreme Court has not resbiwhether local police officers may detain or
arrest an individual for suspectedminal violations, [but] the Courbas said that local officers
generally lack authority to st individualssuspected ofivil immigration violdaions. 725 F.3d
at 464 (emphases in original). Specifically, “the Supreme Court has held unconstitutional a
provision in an Arizona statuteahauthorized a state officer ‘tovithout a warrant . . . arrest a
person if the officer has probable cause to believe . . . [the person] has committed a public
offense that makes [him] remdsa from the United States.ld. (quoting Arizona v. United
States 132 S. Ct. 2492, 2505 (2012)). Bsa&ntosnoted that, afteArizona there is an open
guestion as to whether “state and local law ex@orent officers . . . may lable to investigate,
detain, and arrest individuals fariminal violations of federal immigration law.”ld. Here,
Villars alleges (and théace of the ICE detainer does naifute) that Lake County lacked
probable cause that Villars viotat federal criminal law, and instead detained him while the
federal government investigated to determine whieth@éot he had. Takintpat as true for the
purpose of Defendants’ motion to dismiss, the €oancludes that Villars has stated cognizable
claims in Counts V-XI.

As with the VRLB Defendants, the Coudresolidates Plaintiff sluplicative allegations

and/or those lodged against the federal governimémtthree distinctounts: Count V alleging
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Fourth Amendment violations, Count IX allegisgbstantive due process violations, and Count
X alleging procedural due procegmlations. For the sake ofasity and judicial efficiency,
Counts VI, VII, VIII, and Xl are dismissed.
2. CountXV

The Lake County Defendants, like the VRIIRfendants, argue that Villars’'s Vienna
Convention claim should be disssed due to a “lack of legaligport” for the contention that
they were required to inform Villars of his caar rights within the time period in which they
detained him and that they are entitled to deaiimmunity. For the same reasons the Court
denied the VRLB Defendants’ motion to dismibgse counts, as dissed earlier, the Court
denies the Lake County Bdants’ motion, as well.

3. CountXVI-XVIII

The Lake County Defendants’ one-paragraphpument for the dismissal of Plaintiff's
Section 1985 conspiracy claims against Defetsd#¥ilson and Novarro misses the mark. They
argue that “Plaintiff alleges nfacts that plausiblysuggest any kind of agreement between the
Lake County Defendants amther defendants [60] at 8 (emphasis added). But Section 1985
only requires an agreement between “two orengersons”; nowhere does the statute specify
that these persons must be from separate and distinct law enforcement agencies. See 42 § U.S.C.
1985(2), (3). An allegation that two of thekeaCounty Defendants agreed (even implicitly) to
deprive Villars of his rightsis well-pled. Here, Villars'salleges that the Lake County
Defendants acted together in detaining Villafer he posted bond, without probable cause, and
without informing him of his congar rights. Inherent in higllegations, making all reasonable

inferences in Plaintiff's favor, is that the kea County Defendants agdst implicily agreed
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among themselves to do so. Accordingly, thawotion to dismiss is denied with respect to
Counts XVI-XVIII.
4. Counts XIX and XX

The Lake County Defendants argue thatthte extent thaPlaintiff alleges aMonell
claim in Count XIX (titledrespondeat superi@rthe Court still should deny that count. They
argue that “Plaintiff does not allege that thee®i had an explicit unconstitutional policy” and
that hisMonell allegations “contain boilerplate languagr@ly.” [60] at 9. Defendants overlook
paragraphs 107-112 of Villars’'s SAC, where Heges, among other things, that “[Lake County
has] a pattern and practice, @mt and policy of continuing éhdetention ofCounty prisoners
after the conclusiof their state criminatustody solely on the basis of DHS issuance of an
immigration detainer. Upon information and bglieatino prisoners are continued in County
custody after bail bond and the conclusion of themicral sentence solely on the basis of DHS
issuance of an immigration detainer. Perssugject to an ICE detan in Lake County are
typically confined for 1-5 days each beforeEl@ventually takes physical and legal custody of
the individual.” SAC { 107-109. For the saraasons articulated above regarding the VRLB
Defendants’ motion, Villa's allegations state &lonell claim against the Lake County
Defendants and their motion to dismiss wigspect to Counts XIX and XX is denied.

C. Claims Against AUSA Kubiatowski

Defendant Kubiatowski argues that Villars may not sue him in his official capacity and
that absolute prosecutorial immunity shields nrhis individual capacity from Villars’s suit.
The Court agrees with Kubiatowski that Villar€sims against him in his official capacity are
tantamount to constitutional toclaims against the fedd government itself, (seBuzman v.

Sheahan 495 F.3d 852, 859 (7th Cir. 2007)), whicle tBupreme Court did not authorize in
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Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents of the Fed. Bureau of Narcdd& U.S. 388 (1971)Bivens
only authorized such claims against federalceffs in their individual caeities. F.D.I.C. v.
Meyer, 510 U.S. 471, 485 (1985) (“[W]enplied a cause of action aigst federal officials in
Bivensbecausea direct action against the Governmeards not available . . . the purpose of
Bivensis to deterthe officef) (emphasis in original). Thefore, all five claims against
Kubiatowski in his officialcapacity are dismissed.

With respect to Villars’s claims againktm in his individual capacity, Kubiatowski
argues that absolute immunity cloaks his piirei a material witness warrant for Villars.
Absolute immunity extends to activities of a progtor that are “intimately associated with the
judicial phase of the criminal process.Imbler v. Pachtman424 U.S. 409, 430 (1976).
Prosecutorial immunity “extends beyond an indial prosecutor’s decisioto indict or try a
case.”Fields v. Wharrie 672 F.3d 505, 510 (7th Cir. 2012) (citi@n de Kamp v. Goldstein
555 U.S. 335, 344-48 (2009)). mrotects the “functining of the public office, and thus,
encompasses any action directly relevant to a prosecutor’s dbilippnduct a trial.” Id.
Therefore, “acts taken in preparing for the ititia of judicial proceedigs or for trial” are
entitled to absolute immunity. Davis v. Zirkelbach 149 F.3d 614, 617 (7th Cir. 1998).
However, when a prosecutor “functions as amauistrator rather than as an officer of the
court,’ he is entitled onlto qualified immunity.” Buckley v. Fitzsimmon$09 U.S. 259, 273
(1993) (quotingmbler, 424 U.S. at 431 n. 33.).

The Seventh Circuit and, much more reggnthe Third and Sixth Circuits, have held
that a prosecutor’s actions related to securingpterial witness warrant fall within the scope of
absolute immunity. SeBaniels v. Kieser586 F.2d 64 (7th Cir. 1978%dams v. Hansqr656

F.3d 397, 403 (6th Cir. 2011Pdd v. Malone538 F.3d 202, 212 (3d Cir. 2008). The Seventh
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Circuit tackled the issue more than 35 years ago in a case where a witness accused a federal
prosecutor of violating his constitutional rights bynty to the court to have him detained as a
material witness.Daniels 586 F.2d at 66. But because the prosecutor, by securing the presence
of a witness for trial, was attempting to provecd the elements of the government’s case, the
Seventh Circuit concluded that theopecutor’'s actions before the coure.( his decision to
pursue a material witness warrant and any representations made to the Court to secure it) were
intimately associated with the judicighase of the criminal proceskl. at 68. Therefore, to the
extent that Villars seeks to hold Kubiatowsidble for misrepresentations that Kubiatowski
allegedly made to Judges Castillo and/or Dentoveecure Villars’s dention, Kubiatowski is
absolutely immune.

However, Villars also alleges that Kulmatski violated his Fourth Amendment and due
process rights, along with the federal matewahess statute and Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 46(h), by failing to keep the court &gt of Villars’s continued detention, causing
him to remain in jail for almost two mdm — from November 15, 2010 until January 11, 2011 —
without a bail hearing. SAC 11191-92. The fetleraterial witness statute (18 U.S.C. § 3144)
requires that detainees be treated in accaelamth 18 U.S.C. 8142, which requires an
immediate detention hearing. See 18 U.S.C144%) (“The hearing shiabe held immediately
upon the person’s first appearancéobe the judicial officer unkss that person, or the attorney
for the Government, seeks a continuance. pixtm good cause, a continuance on motion of
such person may not exceed five days . . .aandntinuance on a motion of the attorney for the
Government may not exceed three days.”). Here, Villars contends that he never had his
detention hearing. From the docket, it appeaas tfillars made his first appearance before

Judge Denlow on November 15, 2010, at whichetinis detention heanyy was scheduled for
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November 19. When Villars was diagnosedhwtuberculosis, his detention hearing was
postponed indefinitely and Villadid not appear in Court again until January 13, at which time a
detention hearing was scheduled for January @nh. January 27, by agreement of the patrties,
Villars was released from custy. Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 46(h)(2) requires an
attorney for the government “to repdiweekly to the court, listingach material witness held in
custody for more than 10 days pending indictmantaignment, or trial. For each material
witness listed in the repip an attorney for the governmenust state why theitness should not
be released with or ithout a deposition being kan under Rule 15(a)."Villars contends that
Kubiatowski ignored this Rule and, as a resu#t, @ourt forgot about him after his November 19
detention hearing was continued. Villars gde that, as a consequence of Kubiatowski’'s
inaction, he sat in jail for over two monthstilima detention hearing finally was scheduled, at
which time he was ordered released.

The Seventh Circuit did not have occasionDaniels to address whether immunity
shields a prosecutor from the sorts of allegatiogle by Villars, nor has the court of appeals
addressed the issue of a prosecutor’'s immunitheénmaterial witnessontext since then. The
Third Circuit, however, recently ruled @n analogous set of allegations. Qdd v. Malonea
detainee brought suit for comational violations aginst a prosecutor who obtained a material
witness warrant, but then failed to notify the Qabat the trial for which the witness was being
detained had been continued. 538 F.3d at 213. The Third Circuit, foll@einigls held that,
although the prosecutor was actinghier prosecutorial capacity wh she secured the material
witness warrant (and thus was entitled to absalur@unity), the state’s attorney’s failure to
inform the Court that the detainee remainadarcerated — akin to a failure by a federal

prosecutor to make report a list of materiatn@ss detainees to the Court in accordance with
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Rule 46(h), the Third Circuisaid — was primarily administtive, because it required no
advocacy on the part of the prosecuttd. As to this administrativeversight, the Court held,
the prosecutor was not entitled to absolute immunity. The Court finds the Third Circuit’s
reasoning persuasive, andtes, as the Third Cirdudid, that it is theprosecutor’s burden to
show that he was functioning #ise state’s advocate when merhing the action in question.
Taking Villars’'s allegations asue, as the Court must, Kubiatekv has not done that at this
stage of the litigation.

Accordingly, Kubiatowski's motiomo dismiss Counts I-IV is denied.
IV.  Plaintiff's Motion for Certificat ion to Receive U-VISA Certification

In addition to his briefs in opposition to Defendants’ motions to dismiss, Villars has filed
a motion requesting that the Court certify his agplan for a U-Visa [79pursuant to 8 C.F.R. §
214.14(c)(2)(i) and 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(U)(i)(dh account of death threats that Villars says
that he has received due to his work as aidentfial informant for thé=Bl. The Government
opposes the motion. Villars ancetlBovernment agree that Coegs created the framework for
what have become known as U-Visas as phthe Battered Immigrant Women Protection Act
of 2000 and that the purpose of the U-Visa cfasdion was to strengthen “the ability of law
enforcement to investigate and prosecute ca$edomestic violence, sexual assault, human
trafficking and related crimes affecting immagit communities while offering protection to alien
crime victims in keeping with the humanitarian interests of the United States.” [91] at 4. The
parties also agree that in order to qualify fdd-&isa, an alien must prwe that (1) he suffered
substantial physical or mentalbuse resulting from “qualifgg criminal activity,” (2) he
possesses knowledge about that crime, (3) he hasheg#ul, is being helpful, or is likely to be

helpful to a certifying agency in the investigatimmprosecution of that crime, and (4) that crime
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suffered by the alien violated United States lawsamurred in the United States. See 8 C.F.R. §
214.14(b); 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(U)().

The U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Sees (“USCIS”) grants or denies U-Visa
petitions, and federal judges may “certify” an ggnt’s petition to USC3, attesting that the
alien has, in fact, been helpfulam investigation or prosecutioee 8 C.F.R. 8§ 214.14(a)(3)(ii).
However, the certifying peost must be able to attest that (1)ibe federal, state, or local law
enforcement officer, prosecutor, or judge; (2)isreesponsible for the &tection, investigation,
prosecution, conviction, or sentengiof qualifying criminal activity (3) the applicant has been
a victim of qualifying criminalactivity for which the certifying agency is responsible for the
investigation, prosecution, conviction, or sewiag; (4) the applicant possesses information
concerning such qualifying criminattivity; (5) the apptiation has been, is being, or is likely to
be helpful to an investigation or prosecutiontioat qualifying criminal activity; and (6) the
qgualifying criminal activity violated U.S. law avccurred within the Uted States. 8 C.F.R. §
214.14(c)(2)(i).

The regulation, therefore, do@ot authorize thandersigned judge to act as a certifying
official for Villars, for at least the reason that he has never presided over a criminal case in which
Villars was involved. But even assuming tiia¢ undersigned judge could act as a certifying
official here, Villars’s requessuffers from a more fundamental problem: the criminal case in
which Villars acted as a cddéntial informant over which Judge Castillo presidedS( v. Diaz
10-cr-0199) did not involve “qualifying criminalctivity.” 8 C.F.R. § 214.14(a)(9) makes clear
that “qualifying criminal activity” only includesRape; torture; traffiking; incest; domestic
violence; sexual assault; abusive sexual conpaiostitution; sexual exploitation; female genital

mutilation; being held hostage; peonage; iowbhry servitude; slave trade; kidnapping;
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abduction; unlawful criminal restraint; false pnisonment; blackmail; extortion; manslaughter;
murder; felonious assault; withess tampering; obstruction of justice; perjury; or attempt,
conspiracy, or solicitatn to commit any of the above mentioned crimeb.'S. v. Diazwas a

drug trafficking case that inweéd none of the above.

Moreover, U-Visas provide relief taictims of qualifying crimes, not to withesses. To
get around this, Villars claims to have been dim®f death threats (which he characterizes as
witness tampering and obstructiohjustice) and false imprisonment by the Defendants in this
civil case. But, as the Government notes ¥ilthrs does not attempt to refute, there is not
currently an investigatio or a prosecution into the makerstbbse threats or into any of the
Defendants in this civil case for the alleged conduct at issue here. Therefore, even if Villars
suffered abuse as a victim of these alleged crirhesis still ineligible for a U-Visa. See 8
C.F.R. § 214.14(b); 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(U)(i).

IV.  Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, the Courttgtténe VRLB Defendants’ motion to dismiss
[58] only as it pertains to Gary Bitler. Defend&itler is dismissed from the case. The Court
denies the VRLB Defendants’ motion [58] in ather respects. However, on its own motion the
Court dismisses Counts VI, VII, VI, and XI akiplicative for the sake of judicial efficiency
and clarity as this litigation moves forwardLikewise, the Court denies the Lake County
Defendants’ motion [60], but dismisses Counts VII, VIII, and XI for the same reasons.
Finally, the Court grants DefendaKubiatowski’'s motion [83] tathe extent that Plaintiff is
suing him in his official capagit however, the Court deniesuldiatowski’'s motion [83] as it

concerns Plaintiff's claims against him in his personal capacity.
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For the reasons stated above, Plaintiffsdtion for certificationto receive U-Visa

certification [79] also is deniedThis case is set for furtheasis on May 20, 2014 at 9:00 a.m.

Dated: May 5, 2014 E ! ¢ a ;/

Robert M. Dow, Jr&”
UnitedState<District Judge
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